

Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

Disinflation effects in a medium-scale New Keynesian model: money supply rule versus interest rate rule

by Guido Ascari and Tiziano Ropele







Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

Disinflation effects in a medium-scale New Keynesian model: money supply rule versus interest rate rule

by Guido Ascari and Tiziano Ropele

Number 867 - April 2012

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Silvia Magri, Massimo Sbracia, Luisa Carpinelli, Emanuela Ciapanna, Francesco D'Amuri, Alessandro Notarpietro, Pietro Rizza, Concetta Rondinelli, Tiziano Ropele, Andrea Silvestrini, Giordano Zevi. Editorial Assistants: Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

DISINFLATION EFFECTS IN A MEDIUM-SCALE NEW KEYNESIAN MODEL: MONEY SUPPLY RULE VERSUS INTEREST RATE RULE

by Guido Ascari* and Tiziano Ropele**

Abstract

Empirical studies show that successful disinflations entail a period of output contraction. Using a medium-scale New Keynesian model, we compare the effects of disinflations of different speed and timing, implemented through either a money supply or an interest rate rule. In terms of transitional output loss, cold-turkey disinflations under an interest rate rule are less costly than those under a money supply rule and are accomplished more rapidly. Furthermore, gradual or anticipated disinflations deliver lower sacrifice ratios. From a welfare perspective, despite the transitional economic contraction, disinflations are overall welfare-improving. Interestingly, the overall welfare gain is not affected by how the disinflation is actually implemented: what really matters is the achievement of a permanently lower inflation rate.

JEL Classification: E31, E5.

Keywords: disinflation, sacrifice ratio, nonlinearities.

Contents

1. Introduction	
2. A brief empirical review of disinflation costs and dynamics	7
3. A medium-scale New Keynesian model	9
3.1 The speed and timing of disinflation	
4. Measuring the transitional output cost of disinflation	
4.1 The effects of cold-turkey disinflations	
4.1.1. Under MSR	14
4.1.2 and under IRR	16
4.1.3. Discussion: the role of monetary policy framework	
4.2 The effects of gradual/announced disinflation	
4.2.1. Gradual versus cold-turkey disinflation	
4.2.2. Announced versus cold-turkey disinflation	19
5. Measuring the welfare effects of disinflation	
5.1 Welfare results	
6. Robustness analysis	
7. Conclusions	
References	
Appendix: A. A medium-scale New Keynesian model	
Appendix: B. A welfare-based measure of disinflation costs	
Tables and figures	

^{*} University of Pavia.

^{**} Bank of Italy, Economic Outlook and Monetary Policy Department.

1 Introduction

The analysis of disinflation and how to implement a permanent reduction in inflation have been topical issues in economics at least since the 1970s. Their relevance has attracted mounting interest as the monetary policy literature has largely emphasized the benefits of achieving and maintaining price stability and many central banks worldwide have committed to low inflation targets.

The empirical literature on disinflations makes it quite clear that successful disinflations are accompanied by temporary economic downturns (e.g., Gordon and King, 1982; Ball, 1994b; Cecchetti and Rich, 2001). Estimates of the so-called sacrifice ratio (SR), which measures the cumulative output loss for each percentage point of reduction in inflation, vary considerably depending on the country, the historical episode and the econometric technique used. In general, from the available empirical evidence on the real costs of disinflations, a plausible range for the SR is between 0.5 and 3. Institutional factors, such as the monetary policy framework, have been shown to affect the disinflation costs. For the famous Volcker disinflation in the United States, often referred to as a monetarist experiment, Mankiw (1999) estimates an SR of 2.8. For a broad group of inflation-targeting countries, Corbo et al. (2001) find a lower average SR, 0.6.

Most of the disinflations considered in the empirical literature took place at times when the monetarist school held sway. Indeed, the most closely studied episode in history, the Volcker disinflation, is often called a monetarist experiment, after the celebrated monetary policy reform of October 1979 that abandoned federal funds targeting in favour of nonborrowed reserves targeting to control the money supply.¹ Sims and Zha (2006) econometrically identify a Volcker reserve-targeting period that "shows clearly the targeting of monetary aggregates, rather than interest rates, in that regime" (p. 55). Since then the theory and practice of monetary policy have changed radically. Nowadays, it is standard in theoretical models to assume an inflation targeting framework, where monetary policy is conducted through a simple nominal interest rate rule. In

¹The extent to which the Volcker disinflation can actually be considered as a monetarist experiment is discussed at length in Lindsey et al. (2005) (see also the other papers in the same *Fed of St. Louis Review* issue) and Goodfriend and King (2005).

light of these considerations, it is of paramount importance to assess the implications of these two different monetary policy frameworks for disinflation dynamics.

In discussing conditions for a successful disinflation without too much output loss, several authors have emphasized the role played by the speed and timing of disinflation. Taylor (1983) has argued that a gradual approach to disinflation entails less output cost since inertial prices and wages take time to adjust after the monetary tightening. On the other hand, Sargent (1983) and Ball (1994b) have advocated a quick ("cold-turkey") disinflation on the grounds that a rapid disinflation enhances credibility and thus the shift in expectations.

In this paper, we address these issues using a medium-scale New Keynesian model with nominal and real frictions à la Christiano et al. (2005). As in Ascari and Ropele (2010), where it is shown that a theoretical model of this kind successfully accounts for the main stylized facts of disinflations without resorting to imperfect credibility or irrational expectations, we develop our analysis focusing on fully credible disinflationary monetary policy.²

Our main contributions are threefold. First, we examine to what extent the costs of disinflation depend on the monetary policy framework, i.e. money supply rule (MSR) versus interest rate rule (IRR), and on the operational procedure, i.e. cold-turkey, gradualism or anticipation. Our results show that the monetary policy strategy for disinflation significantly affects the SR and the dynamics of the model. On the transitional output costs of disinflation we find that: (*i*) disinflations under MSR or IRR involve a long-lasting decline in output; (*ii*) the theoretical SR values are in line with empirical estimates, with those under MSR generally larger than those under IRR; (*iii*) gradual or announced cold-turkey disinflations yield even lower SR values; and (*iv*) the theoretical SR values decrease with average inflation.

Second, we supplement the study of the transitional output costs of disinflation with a rigorous welfare analysis. Despite the prolonged output downturn, we find that disinflations are overall welfare-improving. The long-run welfare gain of a permanently

²Credibility is certainly an important aspect of a policy change towards disinflation. Several recent studies address this issue by assuming a learning behaviour on the part of private agents; see e.g. Erceg and Levin (2003), Goodfriend and King (2005) and Cogley et al. (2010).

lower inflation rate outweighs the transitional welfare cost. Still, given our benchmark parameters' calibration, the magnitude of these welfare effects is rather small. In terms of consumption equivalent units, each percentage point of diminished inflation increases the representative household's initial steady-state consumption by about 0.07% each period. Interestingly, this finding is quite robust with regards to the practical implementation of disinflation. Although alternative disinflation strategies or procedures involve different effects on the transitional dynamics of output and on the SR, from a welfare perspective there are no sizable differences. So, at least from a welfare perspective what really matters is achieving a permanent lower inflation rate, and it matters less how this goal is achieved in practice.

Third, our analysis also makes a methodological contribution. As in Ascari and Ropele (2010), we do not linearize the structural equations of the model, but simulate the non-linear first order conditions. We do this for the following reasons. Ascari and Merkl (2009) show that the use of linear approximations to study disinflations may lead to misleading results, as a disinflation entails a transition from one steady state to another. Furthermore, the standard approach of taking linear approximations may rule out some important transmission mechanisms. Yun (2005), for instance, emphasizes the role of relative price dispersion, often neglected in linear models, in driving his results for optimal monetary policy.

2 A brief empirical review of disinflation costs and dynamics

In this section we briefly review the basic empirical regularities that characterize disinflationary monetary policies. More specifically, we first examine the real output cost of disinflations and survey how that cost has been measured in empirical analyses. Then, we review the transmission mechanism of disinflation, stressing in particular the dynamic adjustment of output and inflation.

Transitional costs of disinflations. Most of the empirical studies on the costs

of disinflation have used the SR indicator, calculated as the ratio of the cumulative percentage output loss to the disinflation size.

In broad terms, three approaches have been used to estimate the SR. One approach is based on estimating the slope of simple linear Phillips curve regressions. Using this strategy, Gordon and King (1982) estimate SR values ranging from 0 to 8 for the US economy. More recently, Andersen and Wascher (1999) offer a comprehensive analysis for 19 industrialized countries and show that SR estimates are sensitive to the particular Phillips curve specification used in the estimation and to the particular historical period considered. They also report that the average SR rise from 1.5 to 2.5 as average inflation decreased throughout 1980s and 1990s and with the flattening of the aggregate supply curve. Filardo (1998) highlights the non-linearities in the costs of disinflation, as the estimated slope of the Phillips curve is different in periods of sustained economic growth compared with periods of weak economic activity. Finally, using data for euro-area countries in the period 1960-2001, Cuñado and Gracia (2003) estimate SRs between 0.6 and 2.0 and, as in Andersen and Wascher (1999), find an inverse relation between average inflation and the SR.

Ball (1994a) popularized another approach to gauge the costs of disinflation. In essence, Ball's strategy relies on the analysis of single disinflation episodes, identified by locating peaks and troughs in trend inflation.³ He examines 19 moderate-inflation OECD countries in the period 1960-1991 and reports SR estimates between 1.8 and 3.3. In particular, for the Volcker disinflation of 1982-1985 he finds an SR of 1.8, which is close to the estimate of 1.7 reported by Erceg and Levin (2003) but somewhat smaller than the estimate of 2.8 reported in Mankiw (1999). More recently, Zhang (2005) has generalized Ball's approach, demonstrating that the SR estimates are larger when longlived effects on output are taken into account. Furthermore, Zhang confirms the evidence of an inverse relation between average inflation and the SR.

Andersen and Wascher (1999) and Cecchetti and Rich (2001) have criticized Ball's (1994a) approach and have advocated the use of still another methodology based on structural VAR models. Cecchetti and Rich use a structural VAR model estimated on

³Ball (1994a) defines trend inflation as the centered nine-quarter moving average of actual inflation.

US data during the period 1959-1997, testing different identification schemes, and find SRs ranging from 1 to nearly 10. More recently, Durand et al. (2008) perform a study similar to Cecchetti and Rich's for twelve euro-area countries and find much lower SRs, in the range 0.2 to 0.8. Interestingly, they also find evidence in favour of an inverse relation between average inflation and the SR. Finally, Collard, Fève, and Matheron (2007) and Fève et al. (2010) use a structural VAR model for euro-area countries and find an average SR of 4.3.

Dynamic adjustment after a disinflation. The use of structural VAR models has also made it possible to illustrate the dynamic adjustment of several macroeconomic variables throughout a disinflation. In general, as one might expect, in response to a disinflationary monetary policy shock output declines temporarily while inflation decreases and eventually reaches a new lower level. But having said this, different structural VAR specifications, different identification schemes and different data have been shown to imply, to some extent, different transmission mechanisms. Using US data, Cecchetti and Rich (2001) (in one of their model's specifications) and Collard et al. (2007) find a markedly sluggish adjustment pattern of inflation, which increases on impact and then slowly declines towards the new lower level. Meanwhile, output falls, leading to a severe and protracted recession. Instead, Cecchetti and Rich (2001) in their benchmark model specification for the US economy and Fève et al. (2010) for euro-area data find that after a disinflationary shock inflation abruptly falls on impact, then picks up mildly and eventually converges to its lower level through fluctuations. The dynamic adjustment of output is similar to the one described above, although the economic downturn is smaller and less prolonged.

3 A medium-scale New Keynesian model

To examine the macroeconomic effects of disinflation we use a medium-scale New Keynesian model, in many regards similar to the one in Christiano et al. (2005), Smets and Wouters (2003) and Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004). In particular, our theoretical model extends the basic three-equation New Keynesian model à la Clarida et al. (1999) by adding a broader set of real and nominal frictions and by including endogenous capital accumulation. Real frictions include: monopolistic competition in goods and labour markets, internal habit in consumption, variable capital utilization and adjustment costs in investment decisions. As for nominal frictions: prices and wages are sticky according to a staggered adjustment mechanism à la Calvo. Finally, money balances enter the model in two ways: households derive direct utility from holding real money balances (i.e. assumption of money-in-the-utility function) and firms hold nominal money balances to pay wages before production (i.e. assumption of working capital).⁴

Instead of dwelling on the details the model, here we highlight some of its features, Appendix A contains the analytical description of the structural equations and the calibration of parameters.⁵

First, as regards the conduct of monetary policy we assume two possible frameworks: the central bank uses a nominal money supply rule (MSR) or a simple interest rate rule (IRR). Under an MSR framework, the central bank controls the growth rate of the nominal money supply (π_t^*), and thus the stock of nominal money (M_t) evolves according to the following law of motion

$$M_t = (1 + \pi_t^*) M_{t-1}.$$
 (1)

Clearly, in this framework the steady-state inflation rate is pinned down by π^* .

Under an IRR framework the monetary policy instrument is the nominal interest rate. Thus, the central bank sets the nominal interest rate (i_t) after observing the inflation rate (π_t) and in accordance with the following rule

$$\frac{1+i_t}{1+i_t^*} = \left(\frac{1+\pi_t}{1+\pi_t^*}\right)^{\phi}$$
(2)

where π_t^* and i_t^* represent the inflation and the nominal interest rate targets, respectively. The parameter ϕ is assumed to be greater that one.⁶ Unlike more conventional

⁴Christiano et al. (2005) for the US economy and Smets and Wouters (2003) for the euro-area document the importance of these rigidities to match the business cycle empirical regularities.

⁵For further details, see Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004).

⁶In particular, the nominal interest rate target is given by $1 + i_t^* = (1 + \pi_t^*) / \beta$, where β is the

Taylor-type rules, according to our postulated rule the central bank does not respond to the output gap or/and to the lagged nominal interest rate. The rationale underlying our choice is that we see a disinflation as a situation in which the monetary policy is primarily, if not entirely, concerned with the ultimate goal of lowering inflation. Accordingly, we disregard the other terms that typically enter the standard nominal interest rate rule and that are instead useful to describe the conduct of monetary policy *in normal times*.

Second, with regards to nominal price and wage rigidity we employ a variant of the standard Calvo (1983) staggered adjustment mechanism. As in Smets and Wouters (2003), we assume that prices and wages that cannot be optimally adjusted are indexed partially to past inflation (with a weight equal to χ for prices and $\tilde{\chi}$ for wages) and partially to long-run inflation (with a weight equal to $1 - \chi$ for prices and $(1 - \tilde{\chi})$ for wages).⁷ This formulation, which implies that in the long-run all nominal prices and wages are adjusted one-to-one with steady-state inflation, is advantageous because regardless of the level of χ there will not be any price and wage dispersion in steady state. In other words, higher levels of positive steady-state inflation imply no inefficiency loss in the resource allocation, which otherwise would be reflected, in general, in a lower level of steady-state output.

Third, although prices and wages are in effect fully indexed as in Smets and Wouters (2003), money in our model is non-superneutral. This is due to the working capital assumption, which makes the firms pay the wage bill before production and the real marginal costs to depend positively on the nominal interest rate. Although this feature helps to increase the empirical fit of the model (see Christiano et al., 2005), it also affects the steady-state relationship between output and inflation. The higher the level of steady-state inflation, the greater the labour costs for firms; hence, *ceteris paribus*, the lower the wage paid to workers. In response, households reduce their labour supply and employment falls. Firms in turn decrease their capital stock, because labor and capital are complements in the production function. Eventually, the level of output decreases. The long-run Phillips Curve is not vertical. Using the calibration reported in

representative household's subjective discount factor.

⁷Note that this formulation nests the price and wage indexation rule used in Christiano et al. (2005) when $\chi = \tilde{\chi} = 1$ (i.e., full indexation to past inflation).

Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004): a permanent 1% reduction in inflation implies roughly a 0.1% increase in steady-state output.⁸

Fourth, as our main focus here is on the effects of disinflationary monetary policies we deliberately refrain from addressing the potential role of fiscal policy. Under the MSR we only make the technical assumption that seigniorage revenues are returned to households via a lump-sum transfer.

3.1 The speed and timing of disinflation

Throughout our analysis, a disinflationary monetary policy is implemented by means of a permanent reduction of the target π_t^* . In particular, we assume that before the disinflation is actually carried out, say for $t = -\infty, \dots, -2, -1$, the economy has been in a steady state characterized by a positive long-run inflation π_{old}^* . At t = 0, the central bank decides to disinflate the economy by lowering the target from π_{old}^* to π_{new}^* . Furthermore, we assume that the shift in the target is permanent, and that agents, once the disinflation is fully completed, do not expect any other policy change. From a methodological perspective we simulate the model using a non-linear solution method.⁹

As is widely discussed in the literature, disinflation programs can be designed in several ways depending on the speed and/or timing of reduction of π_t^* . A so-called *cold-turkey disinflation* entails an immediate reduction of the policy target, that is

$$\pi_t^* = \begin{cases} \pi_{\text{old}}^* & t = -\infty, ..., -2, -1 \\ \pi_{\text{new}}^* & t = 0, 1, ..., \infty \end{cases}$$

A gradual disinflation entails instead a steady reduction of the policy target, completed

⁸The assumption of 100% price and wage indexation to past inflation rules out any potential real effect originating from the Calvo nominal friction. With partial indexation, a positive level of steady-state inflation would increase price and wage dispersion, yielding an inefficiency output loss (e.g. Ascari, 2004, Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe, 2004). In this case, the real effects of steady-state inflation would be significantly larger.

⁹In particular, we use the DYNARE package to numerically simulate the disinflation (see the webpage: http://www.cepremap.cnrs.fr/dynare/).

in k periods, that is

$$\pi_t^* = \begin{cases} \pi_{\text{old}}^* & t = -\infty, ..., -2, -1 \\ \pi_{t-1}^* - k^{-1} \left(\pi_{\text{old}}^* - \pi_{\text{new}}^* \right), \text{ with } k \ge 1 & t = 0, 1, ..., k - 1 \\ \pi_{\text{new}}^* & t = k, k+1, ..., \infty \end{cases}$$

Thus, the parameter k controls the disinflation speed: the lower is k, the faster is the reduction of the policy target. Clearly, the cold-turkey disinflation pertains to k = 1.

Another interesting case to consider is announced disinflation. In this event, the central bank at t = 0 declares the intention to disinflate the economy after k periods. In what follows we will only consider the case of announced cold-turkey disinflations, that is

$$\pi_t^* = \begin{cases} \pi_{\text{old}}^* & t = -\infty, ..., -2, -1 \\ \text{Announcement} & t = 0 \\ \pi_{\text{old}}^* & t = 0, 1, ..., k - 1 \\ \pi_{\text{new}}^* & t = k, k + 1, ..., \infty \end{cases}$$

4 Measuring the transitional output cost of disinflation

In this section we measure the transitional output cost of disinflation. To this end, we follow the empirical literature and calculate a model-consistent SR, using the following formula

$$SR = -\frac{1}{\pi_{old}^* - \pi_{new}^*} \sum_{t=0}^T \left(\frac{Y_t - Y_{new}}{Y_{new}} \right),$$
(3)

where Y_{new} represents the steady-state level of output at π^*_{new} . Our model-consistent SR effectively cumulates the percentage output losses the economy has to sacrifice for each percentage point of permanent reduction in steady-state inflation. It is worth emphasizing two features of (3). First, we calculate the SR by considering output in deviation from its new steady-state level (Y_{new}). Second, we truncate to the first Tperiods the cumulation of the percentage output losses, where T indicates the number of periods inflation takes to settle down to the new steady-state level.¹⁰

In the following subsections, we shall examine how well different disinflation programs replicate the stylized facts reviewed in section 2 and we compare the outcomes in the two monetary policy frameworks, namely MSR and IRR. More specifically, we answer the following questions: (i) Do cold-turkey, gradual and announced disinflations have recessionary effects? (ii) How large are the SRs? (iii) Does the disinflation size, i.e. the difference between π^*_{old} and π^*_{new} , matter for the SR? (iv) Do initial and final values of steady-state inflation matter for the SR?

4.1 The effects of cold-turkey disinflations

In this section we compare the effects of cold-turkey disinflationary monetary policies under MSR and IRR. In both cases, we consider disinflations that start from moderately inflated steady-states, i.e., $\pi_{\text{old}}^* = \{2\%, 4\%, 6\%, 8\%\}$, and aim to achieve full price stability, i.e., $\pi_{\text{new}}^* = 0\%$.

4.1.1 Under MSR ...

As shown in Figure 1, under MSR cold-turkey disinflations come with a considerable recession. Output decreases following a hump-shaped pattern and eventually converges to the new steady-state through diminishing fluctuations. Inflation immediately falls, yielding a long-lasting deflation. Real money balances gradually build up while the nominal interest rate decreases. The ex-ante real interest rate rises and then reverts to steady state.

To better understand the mechanism underlying these adjustment paths, let us take as an example the disinflation from $\pi^*_{\text{old}} = 2\%$.

At time t = 0 when the central bank stops printing money (recall that $\pi_{\text{new}}^* = 0$), only a random share of firms optimize prices: aware of the new inflation target and the ensuing output contraction (necessary to curb inflation), these firms lower prices. The remaining firms mechanically adjust their prices one-to-one to past inflation, raising

¹⁰In particular, the value of T is chosen such that for t > T it holds that $|\tilde{\pi}_t - \pi^*_{\text{new}}| < 10^{-5}$, where $\tilde{\pi}_t$ denotes the local minimia/maxima of π_t .

prices by $1 + \pi_{\text{old}}^*$. As shown in Figure 1, the former pricing decision prevails on the latter, with the result that the aggregate price index decreases. The ensuing deflation boosts real money balances and drives down the nominal interest rate. The ex-ante real interest rate rises significantly, mainly reflecting the long-lasting future deflation, leading to a gradual reduction in consumption and investment spending. Output falls.

At time t = 1, optimizing as well as non-optimizing firms lower prices. The former do so as they anticipate a hump-shaped decline in aggregate demand, driven by habit in consumption and investment adjustment costs. The latter instead lower prices because of indexation to a negative inflation rate. As a result, deflation intensifies: the ex-ante real interest rate peaks and output reaches the trough. From then on the ex-ante real interest rate slowly reverts and as it stays below steady-state the economy experiences a temporary and mild expansion of output. Finally, the cold-turkey disinflation is completed in about 28 quarters.

Cold-turkey disinflations from higher inflation rates, i.e., $\pi_{old}^* = \{4\%, 6\%, 8\%\}$, exhibits qualitatively similar dynamics. Neither the transmission mechanism nor the timing of turning points in output and inflation are affected. Yet, higher initial levels of steady-state inflation have strong effects on the amplitude of output and inflation declines. In percentage deviations from the new steady-state, the fall in output at the trough, which occurs after two quarters following the disinflation, is nearly 2% for $\pi_{old}^* = 2\%$, then nearly doubles for $\pi_{old}^* = 4\%$, and becomes 6% for $\pi_{old}^* = 8\%$. Likewise, the decline in inflation at the trough, which occurs after four quarters, intensifies as π_{old}^* increases. Intuitively, as the initial level of steady-state inflation rises, optimizing firms lower prices to a greater degree, leading to a deeper deflation and a larger rise in the ex-ante real interest rate.

So, MSR cold-turkey disinflations are accompanied by a decline in output, but how costly is the disinflation? The top panel of Table 2 reports the theoretical SRs, calculated with T = 28. Several results are noteworthy. First, the SRs are roughly equal to 2.8, thus in line with the empirical evidence. So, in economic terms, this means that to achieve a permanent reduction of steady-state inflation, say, from 4% to zero, the economy has to incur a cumulative output loss of 5.7%. Second, varying the disinflation size has minor affects on the SR.

With regards to the robust empirical finding on the inverse relation between the SR and the average inflation, we consider fixed size cold-turkey disinflation experiments, from $\pi^*_{old} = \{4\%, 6\%, 8\%\}$ to $\pi^*_{new} \equiv \pi^*_{old} - 2\%$. As shown in Table 2, the SRs decrease as π^*_{old} rises. Disinflating from 4 to 2% entails an SR of 2.2, i.e., 0.8 percentage points lower than from 2 to 0%. The SRs decrease even more for $\pi^*_{old} = 6\%$ and $\pi^*_{old} = 8\%$, to 1.8 and 1.6, respectively. Fixed-size cold-turkey disinflations therefore appear to have notable and non-linear effects on the SR. Figure 2 shows disinflation paths in these cases.

4.1.2 ... and under IRR

We now repeat the same disinflation experiments assuming the central bank operates under a IRR framework. As in Taylor (1993) we set $\phi = 1.5$. As shown in Figure 3, in this case cold-turkey disinflations again come with a considerable recession. Although the transmission mechanism is broadly similar to that under MSR, a number of qualitative and quantitative differences stand out. First, under IRR cold-turkey disinflations involve an immediate rise in the nominal interest rate.¹¹ The prolonged period in which the ex-ante real interest rate stays above its steady-state level lowers aggregate demand and yields a decline in output. As inflation starts steadily to decline, the central bank cuts the policy rate. Second, inflation converges to the new steady-state level through a gradual adjustment path. This stands in stark contrast with the deflation that characterizes the cold-turkey disinflations under MSR (see Figure 1). Third, for a given disinflation size, cold-turkey disinflations under IRR yield less macro volatility than under MSR. At the trough the fall in output under MSR is approximately three times greater than under IRR. Fourth, under IRR cold-turkey disinflations are accomplished in 15 quarters, roughly half the time it takes under MSR.

¹¹The reduction of the policy target π^* has two opposite effects on the nominal interest rate under IRR. On the one hand, the permanent decline in π^* opens up a temporary inflation gap (given that the inflation does not adjust immediately) and this calls for an increase in the policy rate. On the other hand, it leads to a permanent decline in the nominal interest rate target, i.e., i^* . The latter effect calls for a cut in the policy rate. *Ceteris paribus*, which of the two forces prevails crucially depends on the policy parameter ϕ . For low values of ϕ , the initial increase in the nominal interest rate would be absent. Nonetheless, we think that in the context of disinflation it is realistic to assume a substantial value for ϕ .

In Figure 3 we also report the time-varying growth rate of the money supply implied by the interest rate rule.¹² It turns out that the growth rate of the nominal money supply declines suddenly, then increases, overshooting the initial growth rate, and thereafter gradually converges to the new steady-state level. The immediate response of m_t reflects the initial rise in the nominal interest rate, which temporarily depresses demand for real money balances.

The bottom panel of Table 2 reports the theoretical SRs, calculated for T = 15. Not surprisingly, they are substantially lower (approximately equal to 1) than those under MSR and still in line with the estimates founded in several empirical studies. Moreover, it turns out that they are quite insensitive to different sizes or fixed-size disinflations.

4.1.3 Discussion: the role of monetary policy framework

Inflation dynamics are rather different in the two monetary policy frameworks. Under MSR, the central bank freezes the nominal money supply; however, real money balances have to increase to reach the new steady-state level. The only possible way these patterns can square is for inflation to decrease more than the growth rate of nominal money supply, which is zero in Figure 1 and positive in Figure 2. Thus, the requisite aggregate price dynamics are brought about by a long-lasting output contraction, which induces firms to lower prices producing a decrease in inflation. This, in turn, rationalizes the lack of inflation persistence under MSR, despite the assumption of full price indexation to past inflation. Although, full price indexation to past inflation does cause a relatively more sluggish adjustment of inflation and a deeper economic downturn, it is not the fundamental driver of the recession. Even with prices fully indexed to steady-state inflation, the same qualitative dynamic adjustment illustrated in Figures 1 and 2 would carry on.

Under IRR, by contrast, if prices are fully indexed to steady-state inflation there will be no recession. This is because under a Taylor rule the money supply is endogenous and can thus adjust freely to satisfy the increase in the demand for real money balances.

¹²The time-varying growth rate of the nominal money supply is computed as $\pi_t^* = (m_t/m_{t-1}) \pi_t$, where m_t denotes holding of real money balances.

In this case, monetary policy would increase the money supply initially to meet the increased money demand, and since inflation is a pure forward-looking variable there would not be the need for a recession to occur. It follows that under IRR the assumption of price (and wage) indexation to past inflation is the main cause of the recession. In fact, in Figure 3 the growth rate of the nominal money supply jumps, after an initial sharp fall, and diminishes only gradually. Monetary policy has to fight the inertia in indexation in the initial period, and it slashes the rate of growth of the money supply, leading to an increase in the nominal interest rate. In the following period, however, it accommodates money demand, since a relatively high rate of growth of money supply would be absorbed by money demand without inflationary pressure (and is actually needed to avoid a deflationary period).

All in all, the key message here is that the monetary policy framework matters for disinflation. Our results show that an IRR disinflation generally entails lower output costs than those attainable under MSR, reflecting the different nominal money supply paths in the two monetary policy frameworks. Furthermore, price indexation to past inflation causes a recession only under IRR. If the Volcker disinflation can truly be deemed a "monetarist experiment", then indexation to past inflation is not really needed to explain the high cost of a disinflation.¹³

4.2 The effects of gradual/announced disinflation

In this section we examine gradual and announced disinflations. To save space we report disinflations from $\pi^*_{\text{old}} = \{2\%, 4\%, 8\%\}$ to $\pi^*_{\text{new}} = 0\%$, and only show the adjustment paths of output and inflation.

4.2.1 Gradual versus cold-turkey disinflation

Figures 4 and 5 illustrate the effects of gradual disinflations for $k = \{4, 8, 12\}$ under MSR and IRR respectively. In general, gradual disinflations are accompanied by a hump-shaped decline in output, though for a given π^*_{old} a slower reduction of the policy

¹³This obviously does not rule out the possibility that the lack of credibility could have added significant costs to the Volcker disinflation.

target implies less output volatility, for as k increases optimizing firms lower prices less aggressively and the ex-ante real interest rate rises less.

The data reported in Table 2 confirm that gradualism unambiguously reduces real output costs. This is particularly evident under MSR, whereby a more gradual disinflation reduces the SR monotonically. For example, a three-year disinflation, i.e., k = 12, yields an SR that is roughly half the one that would arise under a cold-turkey policy. Also, for given disinflation speed, it is less costly to disinflate from higher levels of steady-state inflation. With regards to IRR, a gradual approach to disinflation still delivers lower SRs than those under a cold-turkey, though in this case the difference is somewhat less pronounced. Furthermore, under IRR the reduction of the SR due to a more gradual disinflation does not appear to be monotonic in k: the SR decreases until k = 8 and then starts to rise. Finally, with regards to fixed-size disinflations, for a given k the SR decreases with higher levels of initial steady-state inflation, especially under MSR.

4.2.2 Announced versus cold-turkey disinflation

Figures 6 and 7 illustrate the effects of announced cold-turkey disinflation policies under MSR and IRR, respectively. In each case we consider disinflations announced 1, 2 and 4 quarters in advance. The main result here is that anticipated cold-turkey disinflations entail long-lasting output downturns. Under MSR, the effects of announcing a future cold-turkey disinflation reflect upon output and inflation dynamics. Regardless of the disinflation size, output contraction gets smaller (see for instance the percentage fall of output at the trough) and inflation may even converge smoothly to steady-state without any deflation (see for instance the case with $\pi^*_{old} = 8\%$ and a 1-year anticipated coldturkey disinflation). In general, the top entries of Table 2 confirm that the anticipation of future cold-turkey disinflation brings about monotonic declines of the SR values, regardless of the disinflation size.¹⁴

¹⁴In other disinflation experiments not reported here, we found that for announced cold-turkey disinflation longer than two years the SR starts to increase. This naturally raises the question for the optimal design of fully credible anticipated disinflation policies. The answer to this question is beyond the scope of this paper and is the subject of ongoing research.

Under IRR, the announcement of future cold-turkey disinflations has stabilizing effects on output, but – and this is in contrast with MSR – barely any effect on inflation (see Table 2). As shown in Figure 8, these policies tend to de-stabilize the nominal interest rate as well as the ex-ante real interest rate. This is actually an artifact of the specific experiment we are considering since the central banker keeps targeting the old inflation target π^*_{old} until the disinflation is truly implemented. Right after the central bank announces it intends to disinflate, optimizing firms lower prices. As inflation falls moderately relative to the old target, the central bank reduces the nominal interest rate. The ex-ante real interest rate increases slightly leading to a more muted output contraction. When the central bank actually executes the reduction of the inflation target, the nominal as well as the ex-ante real interest rates peak and thereafter decrease monotonically towards their respective steady-state.¹⁵

To summarize our results, both MSR and IRR gradual or announced disinflationary monetary policies deliver lower SRs than under cold-turkey. However, the relation between the SR and the speed of disinflation is not necessarily monotonic.

5 Measuring the welfare effects of disinflation

As remarked by Gordon and King (1982), the mere existence of output losses following a disinflation does not by itself have any policy implications. A thorough balance should be drawn of the welfare cost of forgone output and the welfare benefits of lower inflation. On the later point, the recent new Keynesian monetary policy literature has largely emphasized under which conditions and why the achievement of full price stability is socially desirable (see Woodford, 2003 and the references therein).

In this section we tackle this issue and follow Ascari and Ropele (2010) to calculate an indicator that measures the total welfare effect that arises during a disinflation. As detailed in Appendix B, our proposed indicator of the *total welfare effect* of disinflation

¹⁵The sudden reversal and zigzag behaviour of the nominal interest rate may lead to peculiar adjustment dynamics, especially for announcement experiments longer than one year. In a 2-year announcement case, on impact the real interest rate may even decrease, thereby yielding an expansion in output.

is given by

$$\mathcal{W} = \frac{1 - \exp\left[(1 - \beta)(\mathbb{V}_1 - \mathbb{V}_{\text{old}})\right]}{\pi^*_{\text{old}} - \pi^*_{\text{new}}} \tag{4}$$

while the transitional welfare effect is computed as

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{W}} = \frac{\exp\left[\left(1-\beta\right)\left(\mathbb{V}_{\text{new}}-\mathbb{V}_{\text{old}}\right)\right] - \exp\left[\left(1-\beta\right)\left(\mathbb{V}_{1}-\mathbb{V}_{\text{old}}\right)\right]}{\pi_{\text{old}}^{*} - \pi_{\text{new}}^{*}}$$
(5)

where \mathbb{V}_{old} and \mathbb{V}_{new} denote the representative household's value function in the old and in the new steady states; and \mathbb{V}_1 denotes the representative household's value function in the first period after the central bank implements the disinflation.

Two remarks are in order. First, for the sake of interpretation, our welfare results are expressed in terms of consumption equivalent units. In practice, the consumption equivalent measure is defined as the constant fraction of the initial consumption level that the representative household has to give away each period in order to obtain the same level of value function it would obtain if the disinflationary policy were implemented. Note that this is an accurate measure of the costs of disinflation in terms of consumption: it measures how much the representative household suffers in terms of forgone consumption in exchange for a permanent reduction in inflation. Second, our welfare-based indicators are computed echoing the construction of the SR, so a positive (negative) value of the welfare-based indicator has to be interpreted as a welfare loss (gain).

5.1 Welfare results

Table 3 reports the results for cold-turkey disinflations under MSR and IRR. For all disinflation experiments, the total welfare indicator is negative, signifying that *disinflations are welfare improving.*¹⁶ We think this is an interesting result. Most empirical studies focus only on the transitional costs of disinflation in terms of forgone output, but neglect, often by construction, the potential long-run benefits of a lower inflation

 $^{^{16}}$ Qualitatively, this result does not depend on the inclusion of real money balances in the utility function. We have also calculated welfare-based measures without accounting for the utility gain coming from the long-run increase in real money balances. In this case, the welfare results would be smaller than the ones reported in the table by 30%.

rate. We show that in a medium-scale New Keynesian model a cold-turkey disinflation policy is overall welfare improving. Still, these welfare gains are rather small, amounting to an extra 0.06 per cent of consumption each period.

These results are even more striking when the total welfare gain is decomposed between transitional and long-run effects. We have shown in previous sections that coldturkey disinflations under MSR or IRR entail a large and lasting output decline and that the theoretical SRs tally with empirical estimates. From a welfare perspective, however, it turns out that, as indicated in Table 3, the transitional welfare loss is quantitatively negligible and equal to a fall of 0.01% in initial consumption for each following period. Inspection of the transitional welfare losses also shows that disinflations under IRR are less welfare decreasing than those under MSR, though the differences are quantitatively very small. Disinflation size appears to matter only for the long-run welfare gain, which almost linearly improves as π^*_{old} rises. For fixed-size disinflation experiments, both the transitional welfare loss and the long-run welfare gain improve for higher levels of π^*_{old} . Lastly, Table 4 reports the welfare effects for gradual and announced disinflations. In general, the more gradual the disinflation or the longer is anticipated, the larger the welfare gain. In any case, these effects are quantitatively very small.

The key result here is that no matter how a disinflation is implemented (under MSR or IRR; cold-turkey, gradually or announced), the total effect on the representative household's value function is to improve welfare. Yet, the order of magnitude of welfare gains is quite small and corresponds for each percentage point of diminished inflation to an increase of about 0.06% in initial consumption in each period. We next illustrate the intuition for this finding by taking as an example a cold-turkey disinflation under MSR. Figure 9 displays adjustment paths of consumption, employment and the utility function, with and without real money balances. The cold-turkey disinflation produces a prolonged recession, induced by a lasting decrease in consumption and employment. The levels of consumption and employment, however, have opposite effects on the representative household's utility function. Thus, the net effect on the representative agent's utility function is ambiguous. On impact, the fall in consumption dominates, dragging down utility. However, already in the second quarter the effect of falling employment takes over and drive utility above the new steady-state level. Moreover, utility will remain above its steady-state level throughout the recession, mainly because the decline in employment is larger in percentage terms and relatively more sluggish, so the positive effect of employment is quite effective in counterbalancing the negative effect of lower consumption. Overall, the transition entails a short-run cost, as shown above, but of a negligible order of magnitude in terms of utility. Figure 9 also illustrates the adjustment path of the utility function net of real money balances to make it clear that our results do not depend on the dynamics of real money balances.

The above analysis shows that the result that disinflations are welfare improving hinges on the representative agent framework, which cannot account for the fact that some individuals may experience sharp drops in utility during recessions as they are thrown out of work. Nonetheless, our results show two important aspects. On the one hand, they cast a shadow on the use of DSGE models for welfare evaluation without "inspecting the mechanism". In particular, the ranking across different monetary policy rules or the optimal policy problems are bound to be based on mechanism similar to ours. On the other hand, if markets were complete (and agents the same ex-ante), then all agents could have the same marginal utility from consumption. Therefore, our results simply show once again that if the economy could provide efficient risk-sharing across agents (either through capital markets or some public welfare system), then disinflation in particular and recession in general could be less of a problem than they are normally thought to be.

6 Robustness analysis

Table 5 shows the results of a comprehensive robustness analysis on the parameters of the model, in order to investigate the different channels through which a disinflation operates. Whenever possible we refer again to Christiano et al. (2005), experimenting the values of the parameters implied by the upper and lower limits of the 95% confidence band reported in their estimation.

Unsurprisingly, the most important friction is price and wage stickiness. For example,

regardless of the policy rule, the SR is roughly doubled with respect to our benchmark case when the degree of price rigidity is increased to 0.77, and it is about halved when α is lowered to 0.44. The sensitivity of the SR to the degree of wage stickiness is somewhat smaller, but still significant. Reducing both of them would therefore result in a substantial reduction of the SR. Note, however, that the welfare-based measure of the cost (gain) of a disinflation is only marginally affected by the change in the parameter values, as we should expect in light of the discussion in the previous section.

Another important source of nominal rigidity is the degree of indexation to past inflation. Section 4.1.3 discussed why indexation is particularly important for disinflation dynamics under IRR. Table 5 confirms the same implications: the SR is quite sensitive to the degree of indexation to past inflation in prices and wages. Under IRR, looking at the transitional dynamics, indexation makes inflation adjustment more sluggish and the recession deeper. Under MSR, instead, indexation has only marginal effects on the SR. According to our results, moreover, our welfare indicator is practically insensitive to changes in the degree of price and wage indexation.

So while nominal frictions do affect the SR, real rigidities appear to have weaker consequences. In general, real frictions have a bearing on the dynamics of the model inducing more inertia and less volatility in the adjustment path of variables. Consequently, the larger are the real frictions, the more muted are the peaks and troughs throughout the adjustment after the disinflation. Thus, a lower degree of habit persistence or the degree of capital adjustment costs leads, under MSR or IRR, to increases in the SR.

For similar reasons, softening firms' cash-in-advance constraint tends to increase the SR, as it increases the volatility of output response. Note, however, that, contrary to the other parameters, a decrease in ν substantially diminishes the welfare indicator. This simply reflects the fact that the long-run welfare gain depends on the cash-in-advance constraint on firms (see Section 3). Without the working capital assumption (i.e. $\nu = 0$), money will be superneutral and the long-run welfare gain will be due solely to the real money balance term in the utility function (see footnote 16).

Finally, in the case of MSR, money demand may play an important role. Increasing σ_m (i.e. the inverse of the elasticity of households' money demand) diminishes the SRs

under MSR, but not under IRR (where policy basically accommodates money demand to target a given interest rate). Intuitively, increasing σ_m decreases the elasticity of households money demand: real money balances will be lower in equilibrium and less responsive to changes in the equilibrium interest rate. Therefore, the change in real money balances from one steady state to the other one is lower. It follows that the prices should adjust less in the case of MSR, because the required adjustment in real money balance is lower.

This section highlights the role of the different frictions and the different channels operating along the adjustment dynamics after a disinflation. Except for the degree of wage and price stickiness, changes in the other structural parameters of the model do not appear to modify significantly either the SR or the total welfare effects.

7 Conclusions

Aboundant empirical evidence indicates that successful disinflations in actual economies entail a sustained period of economic downturn. A classical policy issue regards the disinflation design to minimize the output loss associated with a period of disinflation. On the one hand, Taylor (1983) argued that a gradual disinflation is less expensive as it allows wages and prices enough time to adjust to the new policy target. Likewise, disinflations announced farther in advance may deliver even lower costs. On the other hand, Sargent (1983) contended that a fast disinflation, the so-called cold-turkey approach, is more desirable because expectations adjust faster.

In this paper we revisited the widely debated issue in monetary economics of the effects of different speed and timing of disinflations by means of a medium-scale New Keynesian dynamic general equilibrium model. In particular, we investigated which disinflation approach is less costly when the monetary policy is implemented either through a nominal money supply rule or an interest rate rule. Our comparative analysis on the costs of disinflation offered two perspectives. First, we evaluated the real costs of disinflation by constructing a theoretical sacrifice ratio that measures the cumulative output loss for each percentage point permanent reduction in inflation. Second, we used

a novel metric based on the representative agent's welfare function. Such an indicator in practice balances the short-run welfare losses from the economic contractions and the long-run welfare gains, deriving from the fact that a lower steady-state inflation rate increases the levels of real variables.

Our results can be summarized as follows. On the short-run costs of disinflation, we found that cold-turkey disinflations implemented through an interest rate rule are in general less costly, in terms of the sacrifice ratio, than those achieved by means of a money supply rule. Furthermore, in the former case, the permanent reduction in inflation is accomplished more rapidly. Under both rules, gradual and anticipated disinflations deliver even lower sacrifice ratios, though in the case of an interest rate rule the relation between the sacrifice ratio and the speed of disinflation is not monotonically decreasing. On the welfare analysis our results showed that despite the substantial output contraction disinflations are overall welfare enhancing. The long-run welfare gains of permanently lower inflation outweighs the short-run welfare costs. Still, given our benchmark parameters calibration of the model, the welfare effects are quantitatively rather small. In terms of consumption equivalent units, each percentage point of diminished inflation increases the representative household's initial steady-state consumption by about 0.07% each period. Interestingly, this finding holds up quite well however disinflation is implemented.

The two main results of the paper offers a useful benchmark for future research.

First, the result that disinflating by controlling the money supply is more costly than disinflating by changing the inflation target hinges partly on the way money demand is modelled. So to address this issue further one must think carefully about the money and the financial markets. This is surely a promising avenue for future research, especially seeing that the financial crisis has stimulated developments of DSGE macromodels with a banking sector and financial frictions.

Second, the result that a disinflation is welfare improving despite the short-run recession needs to be taken with caution. The last section of the paper clarifies that an heterogeneous agent framework that can account for different costs of the recession across agents can overturn the result, which is basically another side of the coin of the Lucas' finding of the low cost of business cycles in a representative agent framework. Research in this direction is therefore important for evaluating not only the cost of disinflation but also the cost of business cycles and thus the optimal policy literature.

References

- Andersen, P. S. and W. L. Wascher (1999). Sacrifice ratios and the conduct of monetary policy in conditions of low inflation. Bank of International Settlements wp No 82.
- Ascari, G. (2004). Staggered prices and trend inflation: Some nuisances. Review of Economic Dynamics 7, 642–667.
- Ascari, G. and C. Merkl (2009). Real wage rigidities and the cost of disinflations. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 41, 417–435.
- Ascari, G. and T. Ropele (2010). Sacrifice ratio or welfare gain ratio? Disinflation in a DSGE monetary model. Temi di Discussione n.736, Banca d'Italia.
- Ball, L. (1994a). Credible disinflation with staggered price-setting. American Economic Review 84, 282–289.
- Ball, L. (1994b). What determines the sacrifcie ratio? In N. G. Mankiw (Ed.), Monetary Policy, pp. 155–182. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Cecchetti, S. G. and R. W. Rich (2001). Structural estimates of the U.S. sacrifice ratio. Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 19, 416–427.
- Christiano, L. J., M. Eichenbaum, and C. L. Evans (2005). Nominal rigidities and the dynamic effects of a shock to monetary policy. *Journal of Political Econ*omy 113(1), 1–45.
- Clarida, R., J. Galí, and M. Gertler (1999). The science of monetary policy: A new keynesian perspective. *Journal of Economic Literature* 37, 1661–1707.
- Cogley, T., C. Matthes, and A. M. Sbordone (2010). Optimal disinflation under learning. mimeo.
- Collard, F., P. Fève, and J. Matheron (2007). The dynamic effects of disinflation policies. IDEI wp 426, Toulouse.
- Corbo, V., O. Landerretche, and K. Schmidt-Hebbel (2001). Assessing inflation targeting after a decade of world experience. *International Journal of Finance and*

Economics 6, 343–368.

- Cuñado, J. and F. P. D. Gracia (2003). Sacrifice ratios: Some lessons from EMU countries, 1960-2001. International Review of Applied Economics 17, 327–337.
- Durand, J.-J., M. Huchet-Bourdon, and J. Licheron (2008). Sacrifice ratio dispersion within the Euro Zone: What can be learned about implementing a single monetary policy? *International Review of Applied Economics* 22, 601–621.
- Erceg, C. J. and A. T. Levin (2003). Imperfect credibility and inflation persistence. Journal of Monetary Economics 50, 915–944.
- Fève, P., J. Matheron, and J.-G. Sahuc (2010). Disinflation shocks in the eurozone:A DSGE perspective. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 42, 289–323.
- Filardo, A. J. (1998). New evidence on the output cost of fighting inflation. Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City Economic Review 3rd quarter, 33–61.
- Goodfriend, M. and R. G. King (2005). The incredible Volcker disinflation. Journal of Monetary Economics 52, 981–1015.
- Gordon, R. J. and S. King (1982). The output cost of disinflation in traditional and vector autoregressive models. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 1, 205–242.
- Lindsey, D. E., A. Orphanides, and R. H. Rasche (2005). The reform of October 1979: How it happened and why. *Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Re*view March/April(Part 2), 187–236.
- Mankiw, G. N. (1999). *Macroeconomics*. New York: Worth.
- Sargent, T. J. (1983). Stopping moderate inflations: The methods of Poincare and Thatcher. In R. Dornbusch and M. Simonsen (Eds.), *Inflation, Debt and Indexation*, pp. 54–96. MIT Press: Cambridge, MA.
- Schmitt-Grohé, S. and M. Uribe (2004). Optimal operational monetary policy in the Christiano-Eichenbaum-Evans model of the U.S. business cycle. NBER wp No. 10724.
- Sims, C. A. and T. Zha (2006). Were there regime switches in U.S. monetary policy? American Economic Review 96(1), 54–81.

- Smets, F. and R. Wouters (2003). An estimated dynamic stochastic general equilibrium model of the euro area. Journal of the European Economic Association 1, 1123–1175.
- Taylor, J. B. (1983). Union wage settlement during a disinflation. American Economic Review 73, 981–993.
- Taylor, J. B. (1993). Discretion versus policy rules in practice. Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy 39, 195–214.
- Woodford, M. (2003). Interest and Prices: Foundations of a Theory of Monetary Policy. Princeton University Press.
- Yun, T. (2005). Optimal monetary policy with relative price distortions. American Economic Review 95, 89–108.
- Zhang, L. H. (2005). Sacrifice ratios with long-lived effects. International Finance 8, 231–262.

A Manuel A Medium-scale New Keynesian model

In this appendix we describe the medium-scale New Keynesian model, following closely the outline in Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004).

Households

There is a continuum of infinitely-lived households whose expected intertemporal utility function is given by

$$U_{0} = E_{0} \left\{ \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} u \left(c_{t} - b c_{t-1}; h_{t}^{s}; m_{t}^{h} \right) \right\}$$
(6)

where E_0 defines the mathematical expectation operator conditional on the information set available at time 0, β is the subjective discount factor, function $u\left(c_t - bc_{t-1}; h_t^s; m_t^h\right)$ is well-behaved and increasing in consumption c_t and money holdings m_t^h , while decreasing in hours worked h_t^s . Preferences display habit in consumption levels, measured by the parameter b.

There is a continuum of final goods. indexed by $i \in [0, 1]$, which are aggregated in the usual CES consumption bundle c_t

$$c_t = \left[\int_0^1 c_{it}^{\frac{\eta-1}{\eta}} di\right]^{\frac{\eta}{\eta-1}},\tag{7}$$

where the parameter η indicates the elasticity of substitution between different varieties of goods. The standard household problem defines the optimal demand of good *i*, given by $c_{it} = \left(\frac{P_{it}}{P_t}\right)^{-\eta} c_t$, where P_t is the general price index given by $P_t = \left[\int_0^1 P_{it}^{1-\eta} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\eta}}$.

There is a continuum of labour services h_{jt} , $j \in [0, 1]$, which are combined according to the following technology

$$h_t^d = \left[\int_0^1 h_{jt}^{\frac{\tilde{\eta}-1}{\tilde{\eta}}} dj\right]^{\frac{\eta}{\tilde{\eta}-1}},\tag{8}$$

where $\tilde{\eta}$ is the elasticity of substitutions of labour types. The standard cost minimization problem for firms yields the labour-specific demand function given by $h_{jt} = \left(\frac{W_{jt}}{W_t}\right)^{-\tilde{\eta}} h_t^d$, where W_{jt} is the wage paid to labour type j and W_t is a wage index defined as $W_t = \left[\int_0^1 W_{it}^{1-\tilde{\eta}} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\tilde{\eta}}}$. The total labour supply is found by integrating labour-specific demand functions, to obtain h_t^s

$$h_t^s \equiv \int_0^1 h_{jt} dj = h_t^d \int_0^1 \left(\frac{w_{jt}}{w_t}\right)^{-\tilde{\eta}} dj.$$
(9)

Agents own physical capital k_t that depreciates at rate δ . The capital accumulation equation is

$$k_{t+1} = (1-\delta) k_t + i_t \left[1 - S\left(\frac{i_t}{i_{t-1}}\right) \right],$$
(10)

where the function S introduces the adjustment cost on investment and satisfies the properties that S(1) = S'(1) = 0, S''(1) > 0. The model also features variable capacity utilization of physical capital, denoted by u_t . The cost of capital then depends on the degree of utilization and it is given by $a(u_t)$. Agents rent capital to firms at a real interest rate r_t^k and also decide on the utilization rate. There are complete markets for state contingent assets, such that all agents choose the same level of consumption.

Household first order conditions are thus given by

$$u_{c_t}\left(c_t - bc_{t-1}; h_t^s; m_t^h\right) + u_{c_t}\left(c_{t+1} - bc_t; h_{t+1}^s; m_{t+1}^h\right) = \lambda_t$$
(11)

$$u_{h_t}\left(c_t - bc_{t-1}; h_t^s; m_t^h\right) = -\lambda_t \frac{w_t}{\tilde{\mu}_t}$$
(12)

$$q_{t} = \beta \frac{\lambda_{t+1}}{\lambda_{t}} \left[q_{t+1} \left(1 - \delta \right) + r_{t+1}^{k} u_{t+1} - a \left(u_{t+1} \right) \right]$$
(13)

$$q_t \lambda_t \left[1 - S\left(\frac{i_t}{i_{t-1}}\right) - \left[S_i\left(\frac{i_t}{i_{t-1}}\right) \right] i_t \right] - \beta q_{t+1} \lambda_{t+1} S_i\left(\frac{i_{t+1}}{i_t}\right) i_{t+1} = \lambda_t$$
(14)

$$a_{u_t}\left(u_t\right) = r_t^k \tag{15}$$

$$u_{m_t^h} \left(c_t - b c_{t-1}; h_t^s; m_t^h \right) + \beta \frac{\lambda_{t+1}}{\pi_{t+1}} = \lambda_t.$$
(16)

Wages are sticky à la Calvo, and $1 - \tilde{\alpha}$ is the probability of being able to reset wages next period. If wages can not be re-optimized, they are automatically updated according to the following indexation rule: $w_{j,t+1} = w_{j,t}\pi_t^{\tilde{\chi}}\overline{\pi}^{1-\tilde{\chi}}$, where $\tilde{\chi}$ is the degree of indexation to past inflation and $\overline{\pi}$ is the level of steady-state inflation. Define \tilde{w}_t as the optimal wage set every period t. The union chooses the optimal wage maximizing its utility function given by equation (7), subject to demand for labour in the specific market $h_{jt} = \left(\frac{w_{jt}}{w_t}\right)^{-\tilde{\eta}} h_t^d$ and the probability of not being able to re-optimize in future periods. The resulting first-order condition is

$$E_t \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \left(\beta \tilde{\alpha}\right)^s \lambda_{t+s} \left(\frac{\tilde{w}_t}{w_{t+s}}\right)^{-\tilde{\eta}} h_{t+s}^d \prod_{k=1}^s \left(\frac{\pi_{t+k}}{\pi_{t+k-1}^{\tilde{\chi}} \overline{\pi}^{1-\tilde{\chi}}}\right)^{\tilde{\eta}} \left[\frac{\tilde{\eta}-1}{\tilde{\eta}} \frac{\tilde{w}_t}{\prod_{k=1}^s \left(\frac{\pi_{t+k}}{\pi_{t+k-1}^{\tilde{\chi}} \overline{\pi}^{1-\tilde{\chi}}}\right)} - \frac{w_{t+s}}{\tilde{\mu}_{t+s}}\right] = 0$$

$$(17)$$

All the reset optimal wages are identical in all labour markets.

Firms

Each good is produced by a firm that monopolistically supply its own variety using a production technology of the form

$$z_t F\left(k_{it}, h_{it}\right) - \psi,$$

where z_t is an aggregate technology factor common across firm, and ψ represents a fixed cost of production. The production function $F(k_{it}, h_{it})$ is well-behaved and the same across firms. Final goods can be used for consumption, investment, public expenditure and to pay cost of capital utilization. Each firm faces the following demand function

$$y_{it} = \left(\frac{P_{it}}{P_t}\right)^{-\eta} y_t,\tag{18}$$

where

$$y_t = c_t + i_t + g_t + a(u_t)k_t.$$
 (19)

Firms rent capital from households in a competitive market, and must pay a fraction ν of wages in cash at the beginning of the period by cash. Therefore their money demand function is

$$m_{it}^f = \nu w_t h_{it} \tag{20}$$

The firms' problem is then to maximize the expected value of future profits, under their demand function (18) and the cash-in-advance constraint (20). The first-order conditions with respect to capital and labour services are

$$mc_{it}z_t F_{k_{it}}\left(k_{it}, h_{it}\right) = r_t^k \tag{21}$$

$$mc_{it}z_t F_{h_{it}}(k_{it}, h_{it}) = w_t \left[1 + \nu \frac{R_t - 1}{R_t} \right].$$
 (22)

Since F is homogeneous of degree one, equation (21) and equation (22) imply that all firms have the same marginal costs and aggregation across firms is straightforward.

Prices are sticky à la Calvo. Every period each firm can choose a new price of its own good with a probability $1 - \alpha$. Like wages, prices that cannot be reset optimally are automatically updated according to the following indexation rule: $P_{it} = P_{it-1}\pi_{t-1}^{\chi}\overline{\pi}^{1-\chi}$, where χ is the degree of indexation to past inflation. The first-order condition for the optimal price is

$$E_t \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} r_{t,t+s} P_{t+s} \alpha^s \left(\frac{\tilde{P}_t}{P_t}\right)^{-\eta} y_{t+s} \prod_{k=1}^s \left(\frac{\pi_{t+k}}{\pi_{t+k-1}^{\chi} \overline{\pi}^{1-\chi}}\right)^{\eta} \left[\frac{\eta-1}{\eta} \frac{\tilde{P}_t}{P_t} \prod_{k=1}^s \left(\frac{\pi_{t+k-1}^{\chi} \overline{\pi}^{1-\chi}}{\pi_{t+k}}\right) - mc_{i,t+s}\right] = 0$$

$$(23)$$

Again, all the reset optimal prices are identical for all goods.

Government

Government expenditure is financed through lump-sum taxes and seigniorage

$$g_t = \tau_t + m_t - \frac{m_{t-1}}{\pi_t},$$
(24)

where m_t denotes real money balances and $\pi_t \equiv P_t/P_{t-1}$ is the (gross) inflation rate at time t. Government minimizes the costs of acquiring the composite good; hence, given public expenditure, government's absorption of a single type of good is $g_{it} = \left(\frac{P_{it}}{P_t}\right)^{-\eta} g_t$. To close the model we postulate that the monetary policy uses the simple non-linear nominal interest rate rule as described in the paper.

Equilibrium

The model equilibrium conditions are

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{Money market:} & m_t = m_t^h + m_t^f \\ \text{Labour market:} & h_t^s = \int_0^1 h_{it}^d di \\ \text{Capital market:} & \int_0^1 k_{it} di = u_t k_t \\ \text{Good } i \text{ market:} & z_t F\left(k_{it}, h_{it}\right) = \left(c_t + g_t + i + a\left(u_t\right)k_t\right) \left(\frac{P_{it}}{P_t}\right)^{-\eta} \\ & \text{Aggregate} \\ \text{Goods market} & : & z_t h_t^d F\left(\frac{u_t k_t}{h_t^d}, 1\right) = \left(c_t + g_t + i + a\left(u_t\right)k_t\right) \int_0^1 \left(\frac{P_{it}}{P_t}\right)^{-\eta} di. \end{array}$

 $s_t \equiv \int_0^1 \left(\frac{P_{it}}{P_t}\right)^{-\eta}$ is the price dispersion generated by price staggering, causing a wedge between aggregate supply and aggregate absorption; similarly, wage staggering gives rise to wage dispersion, given by $\tilde{s}_t \equiv \int_0^1 \left(\frac{w_{jt}}{w_t}\right)^{-\tilde{\eta}} dj$; see (9).

Functional forms and calibration

As in Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004), we assume the following functional forms:

$$u(c_{t} - bc_{t-1}; h_{t}^{s}; m_{t}^{h}) = \ln(c_{t} - bc_{t-1}) - \frac{\phi_{0}}{2}h_{t}^{2} + \phi_{1}\frac{(m_{t}^{h})^{1-\sigma_{m}}}{1-\sigma_{m}}$$

$$F(u_{t}k_{t}, h_{t}^{d}) = (u_{t}k_{t})^{\theta} (h_{t}^{d})^{1-\theta}$$

$$S\left(\frac{i_{t}}{i_{t-1}}\right) = \frac{\kappa}{2} \left(\frac{i_{t}}{i_{t-1}} - 1\right)^{2}$$

$$a(u_{t}) = \gamma_{1}(u_{t} - 1) + \frac{\gamma_{2}}{2}(u_{t} - 1)^{2}.$$

Calibration is also as in Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004) and Christiano et al. (2005). The parameters values are listed in the Table 1.

B A welfare-based measure of disinflation costs

In this appendix we closely follow Ascari and Ropele (2010) to derive the indicator of the welfare effect of disinflation. One notable advantage of working with a structural model is that it provides a natural metric to evaluate the welfare implication of disinflation:

Parameter	Value	Description
β	$1.03^{-0.25}$	Time discount rate
θ	0.36	Share of capital
ψ	0.5827	Fixed cost (guarantee zero profits in steady-state)
δ	0.025	Depreciation of capital
ν	1	Fraction of wage bill subject to CIA constraint
η	6	Elasticity of substitution of different varieties of goods
$\widetilde{\eta}$	21	Elasticity of substitution of labour services
α	0.6	Probability of not setting a new price each period
$ ilde{lpha}$	0.64	Probability of not setting a new wage each period
b	0.65	Degree of habit persistence
ϕ_{0}	1.1196	Preference parameter
ϕ_1	0.5393	Preference parameter
σ_m	10.62	Intertemporal elasticity of money
κ	2.48	Investment adjustment cost parameter
χ	1	Price indexation
$ ilde{\chi}$	1	Wage indexation
γ_1	0.0324	Capital utilization cost function parameter
γ_2	0.000324	Capital utilization cost function parameter
z	1	Steady-state value of technology shock

Table 1: Calibration of parameters in Christiano, Eichenbaum and Evans (2005).

this is the representative household's value function. Mimicking the construction of the sacrifice ratio in the main text, a measure of the welfare effect due to a disinflation is given by the difference between the level of the value function in period 1 (\mathbb{V}_1), i.e., value function the first period after the implementation of the disinflationary policy, and the level of the value function if the policy were not implemented, which corresponds to the value function in the old steady state (\mathbb{V}_{old}). So our total welfare effect indicator can be calculated as

$$\mathbf{Welfare} = -\frac{\mathbb{V}_1 - \mathbb{V}_{old}}{\pi^*_{old} - \pi^*_{new}}$$
(25)

It is important to note that \mathbb{V}_1 includes both the transition dynamics and the longrun effects implied by the disinflation. Furthermore, note that if the disinflation brings about a total welfare gain then $V_1 - V_{\text{old}} > 0$ and our indicator takes on a negative value, i.e., Welfare < 0.

The above welfare indicator is not suitable to make cardinal comparisons of different disinflation policies, because it is being based on the utility of the representative agent. One way to overcome this problem is to express the term $(\mathbb{V}_1 - \mathbb{V}_{old})$ in terms of consumption equivalent units.¹⁷

The value function in the old (or initial) steady state is simply given by

$$\mathbb{V}_{\text{old}} = \frac{1}{1-\beta} \left[\ln\left((1-b)c_{\text{old}}\right) - \frac{\phi_0}{2}h_{\text{old}}^2 + \frac{\left(m_{\text{old}}^h\right)^{1-\sigma_m}}{1-\sigma_m} \right],\tag{26}$$

where c_{old} , h_{old} and m_{old}^{h} denote the values of consumption, hours worked and households' real money balances in the old steady state. Given the value of \mathbb{V}_{1} that we retrieve when numerically simulating the disinflation, we just need to solve for the constant fraction (λ) of steady-state consumption households have to give away in each period in the starting steady-state to equate the value of \mathbb{V}_{1} . In other words, we need to solve the following equation for λ :

$$\mathbb{V}_{1} = \frac{1}{1-\beta} \left[\ln\left((1-b)c_{\text{old}}(1-\lambda)\right) - \frac{\phi_{0}}{2}h_{\text{old}}^{2} + \frac{\left(m_{\text{old}}^{h}\right)^{1-\sigma_{m}}}{1-\sigma_{m}} \right].$$
 (27)

Consequently, the consumption equivalent measure is given by $\lambda = 1 - \exp\left[(1 - \beta)(\mathbb{V}_1 - \mathbb{V}_{old})\right]$. Finally, our proposed *total welfare effect* indicator is simply given by $\mathcal{W} = \lambda / (\pi^*_{old} - \pi^*_{new})$. Note that if $\mathbb{V}_1 - \mathbb{V}_{old}$ is negative (positive), then \mathcal{W} is positive (negative), meaning that the disinflation is welfare worsening (improving).

To disentangle the long-run and the transitional welfare effects of disinflation, we proceed as follows. First, we compute the long-run welfare effect (in terms of consumption equivalent units), that is $\lambda_{\infty} = 1 - \exp\left[(1 - \beta) \left(\mathbb{V}_{\text{new}} - \mathbb{V}_{\text{old}}\right)\right]$, where \mathbb{V}_{new} and \mathbb{V}_{old} denote the value function in the new and old steady state. The *long-run welfare effect indicator* is then simply given by $\mathcal{W}_{\infty} = \lambda_{\infty} / (\pi_{\text{old}}^* - \pi_{\text{new}}^*)$. Finally, the *transitional welfare effect indicator* can be simply calculated as: $\widetilde{\mathcal{W}} = \mathcal{W} - \mathcal{W}_{\infty}$.

¹⁷The consumption equivalent measure is defined as the constant fraction of consumption that households need to give away in each period in the starting steady-state, in order to obtain the same level of value function that households would get if the disinflationary policy is implemented. Note that this is a true measure of the costs of disinflation in terms of consumption: it measures how much households have to suffer in terms of consumption loss in order to reduce the inflation rate permanently by a certain amount.

		Money Supply Rule (T=28)							
$\pi^*_{\rm old} - \pi^*_{\rm new}$		2%-0	4%-0	6%-0	8%-0	4%- $2%$	6%- $4%$	8%- $6%$	
Cold-turkey	k=0	2.94	2.85	2.78	2.73	2.22	1.89	1.69	
Gradualism	k=4 k=8 k=12	$2.32 \\ 1.78 \\ 1.55$	$2.12 \\ 1.52 \\ 1.32$	$1.96 \\ 1.34 \\ 1.16$	$1.83 \\ 1.21 \\ 1.06$	$1.63 \\ 1.22 \\ 1.16$	$1.35 \\ 1.03 \\ 1.06$	$1.19 \\ 0.93 \\ 1.00$	
Announcement	j=1 j=2 j=4	2.49 2.09 1.50	2.31 1.86 1.24	$2.18 \\ 1.70 \\ 1.07$	2.08 1.82 1.15	$1.80 \\ 1.45 \\ 0.98$	$1.49 \\ 1.16 \\ 0.77$	$1.31 \\ 1.00 \\ 0.67$	
		Interest Rate Rule (T=15)							
$\pi^*_{\rm old} - \pi^*_{\rm new}$		2%-0	4%-0	6%-0	8%-0	4%- $2%$	6%- $4%$	8%- $6%$	
Cold-turkey	k=0	1.06	1.05	1.04	1.03	1.03	1.01	0.99	
Gradualism	k=4 k=8 k=12	$0.95 \\ 0.86 \\ 1.05$	$0.93 \\ 0.85 \\ 1.04$	$0.92 \\ 0.84 \\ 1.03$	$0.91 \\ 0.83 \\ 1.02$	$0.91 \\ 0.83 \\ 1.02$	$0.90 \\ 0.82 \\ 1.01$	$0.88 \\ 0.81 \\ 1.00$	
Announcement	j=1 j=2 j=4	$1.00 \\ 0.90 \\ 0.71$	$0.98 \\ 0.89 \\ 0.71$	$0.98 \\ 0.88 \\ 0.71$	$0.97 \\ 0.87 \\ 0.70$	$0.98 \\ 0.88 \\ 0.69$	$0.98 \\ 0.87 \\ 0.69$	$0.95 \\ 0.86 \\ 0.66$	

Table 2: Theoretical sacrifi	ce ratio.
------------------------------	-----------

		Mone	y supply	y rule (×10 ⁻²)	Interes	st rate	rule $(\times 10^{-2})$
π^*_{old}	$\pi^*_{\rm new}$	Total	Long	Transitional	Total	Long	Transitional
2%	0	-6.40	-7.40	1.00	-6.59	-7.40	0.81
4%	0	-6.29	-7.30	1.00	-6.49	-7.30	0.81
6%	0	-6.20	-7.20	1.00	-6.39	-7.20	0.81
8%	0	-6.12	-7.11	1.00	-6.31	-7.11	0.80
4%	2%	-6.26	-7.18	0.91	-6.39	-7.18	0.79
6%	4%	-6.12	-7.00	0.87	-6.23	-7.00	0.76
8%	6%	-5.99	-6.82	0.83	-6.08	-6.82	0.74

Table 3: Welfare-based indicator of the effects of cold-turkey disinflations.

			7	E CONTRACTOR OF	-	- / .	- (1)		
		Money supply rule $(\times 10^{-2})$							
Disinflation		2%-0	4%-0	6%-0	8%-0	4%- $2%$	6%- $4%$	8%- $6%$	
	k=4	-6.42	-6.36	-6.28	-6.20	-6.32	-6.18	-6.04	
Gradualism	k=8	-6.51	-6.42	-6.35	-6.27	-6.36	-6.21	-6.07	
	k = 12	-6.53	-6.45	-6.37	-6.30	-6.37	-6.21	-6.07	
	j=1	-6.44	-6.34	-6.26	-6.18	-6.30	-6.16	-6.02	
Anticipation	j=2	-6.48	-6.38	-6.30	-6.23	-6.33	-6.19	-6.05	
	j=4	-6.53	-6.45	-6.37	-6.30	-6.38	-6.23	-6.09	
		Interest rate rule ($\times 10^{-2}$)							
Disinflation		2%-0	4%-0	6%-0	8%-0	4%-2%	6%-4%	8%- $6%$	
	k=4	-6.61	-6.50	-6.41	-6.33	-6.41	-6.24	-6.09	
Gradualism	k=8	-6.62	-6.51	-6.42	-6.34	-6.42	-6.25	-6.10	
	k=12	-6.61	-6.50	-6.41	-6.33	-6.41	-6.24	-6.09	
	j=1	-6.60	-6.49	-6.40	-6.31	-6.40	-6.23	-6.08	
Anticipation	j=2	-6.61	-6.50	-6.41	-6.33	-6.41	-6.24	-6.09	
	j=4	-6.63	-6.51	-6.43	-6.35	-6.43	-6.26	-6.11	
Anticipation Disinflation Gradualism Anticipation	j=1 j=2 j=4 k=4 k=8 k=12 j=1 j=2 j=4	-6.44 -6.48 -6.53 2%-0 -6.61 -6.62 -6.61 -6.60 -6.61 -6.63	$\begin{array}{c} -6.34 \\ -6.38 \\ -6.45 \\ \\ 4\%-0 \\ -6.50 \\ -6.51 \\ -6.50 \\ -6.49 \\ -6.50 \\ -6.51 \\ \end{array}$	-6.26 -6.30 -6.37 Interest 6%-0 -6.41 -6.42 -6.41 -6.40 -6.41 -6.43	-6.18 -6.23 -6.30 5 rate r 8%-0 -6.33 -6.34 -6.33 -6.31 -6.33 -6.35	$\begin{array}{r} -6.30 \\ -6.33 \\ -6.38 \\ \text{ule (} \times 10 \\ 4\% - 2\% \\ -6.41 \\ -6.42 \\ -6.41 \\ -6.40 \\ -6.41 \\ -6.43 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} -6.16 \\ -6.19 \\ -6.23 \\ \end{array}$	-6.02 -6.05 -6.09 8%-6% -6.09 -6.10 -6.08 -6.08 -6.08 -6.09 -6.11	

Table 4: Welfare analysis: gradual and announced disinflationary monetary policies.

	From $\pi_{\text{old}}=4\%$ to $\pi_{\text{new}}=0$				From $\pi_{\text{old}}=4\%$ to $\pi_{\text{new}}=2\%$				
	M	SR		IRR		SR	II	R	
Parameter	SR	\mathcal{W}	SR	\mathcal{W}	SR	${\mathcal W}$	SR	\mathcal{W}	
Benchmark	2.85	-6.29	1.05	-6.49	2.21	-6.26	1.03	-6.39	
$\alpha = 0.77^*$	6.18	-6.07	2.48	-6.44	4.80	-6.12	2.45	-6.36	
$\alpha = 0.44^*$	1.77	-6.37	0.62	-6.50	1.37	-6.32	0.61	-6.40	
$\alpha = 0$	0.77	-6.41	ind.	ind.	0.60	-6.33	ind.	ind.	
$\tilde{\alpha} = 0.7^*$	3.26	-6.28	1.13	-6.48	2.52	-6.25	1.11	-6.39	
$\tilde{\alpha} = 0.58^*$	2.56	-6.29	0.99	-6.49	2.01	-6.26	0.98	-6.39	
$\tilde{\alpha} = 0$	1.69	-6.26	0.88	-6.48	1.49	-6.25	0.88	-6.38	
$\chi = 0.5$	2.51	-6.35	0.33	-6.55	1.99	-6.31	0.33	-6.45	
$\chi = 0.25$	2.53	-6.35	0.2	-6.57	1.99	-6.32	0.2	-6.46	
$\chi = 0$	2.61	-6.35	0.15	-6.58	2.04	-6.32	0.15	-6.48	
$\tilde{\chi} = 0.58$	2.57	-6.30	0.70	-6.49	2.14	-6.27	0.68	-6.39	
$\tilde{\chi} = 0.5$	2.56	-6.30	0.64	-6.49	2.14	-6.27	0.63	-6.39	
$\tilde{\chi} = 0.25$	2.55	-6.30	0.47	-6.49	2.17	-6.27	0.46	-6.39	
$\tilde{\chi} = 0$	2.59	-6.31	0.34	-6.49	2.21	-6.27	0.33	-6.40	
$b = 0.73^*$	2.73	-6.34	1.04	-6.50	2.13	-6.30	1.02	-6.40	
$b = 0.57^{*}$	2.96	-6.24	1.06	-6.47	2.29	-6.22	1.04	-6.38	
b = 0	3.49	-6.04	1.18	-6.41	2.70	-6.06	1.16	-6.32	
$\kappa = 5.74$	2.35	-6.13	0.95	-6.39	1.89	-6.11	0.93	-6.29	
$\kappa = 3.34^*$	2.64	-6.22	1.01	-6.45	2.08	-6.20	1.00	-6.35	
$\kappa = 1.62^*$	3.21	-6.40	1.10	-6.54	2.43	-6.36	1.09	-6.45	
$\nu = 0.5$	3.55	-4.04	0.99	-4.28	2.68	-4.05	0.98	-4.20	
$\nu = 0$	n.a.	n.a.	0.95	-2.10	3.90	-1.80	0.95	-2.04	
$\sigma_m = 11.96^*$	2.58	-5.98	1.05	-6.16	2.06	-5.96	1.03	-6.08	
$\sigma_m = 9.28^*$	3.21	-6.72	1.05	-6.95	2.42	-6.68	1.03	-6.83	

Table 5: Cold-turkey disinflation: Robustness analysis. Note. As in previous tables, the welfare indicator is multiplied by 100. The asterisx indicates parameter values computed using the estimated standard errors reported in Christiano et al. (2005). *ind* indicates equilibrium indeterminacy; *n.a.* not applicable because the solution of the model does not converge.



Figure 1: Cold-turkey disinflation under money supply rule.



Figure 2: Cold-turkey disinflation under money supply rule for a fixed disinflation size: $\pi^*_{old} - \pi^*_{new} = 2\%$.



Figure 3: Cold-turkey disinflation under interest rate rule.



Figure 4: Gradual disinflation under money supply rule. Top panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 2\%$; middle panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 4\%$; bottom panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 8\%$.



Figure 5: Gradual disinflation under interest rate rule. Top panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 2\%$; middle panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 4\%$; bottom panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 8\%$. Transition paths are expressed in percentage deviations from the new steady state.



Figure 6: The effects of announcing future (cold-turkey) disinflations under money supply rule. Top panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 2\%$; middle panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 4\%$; bottom panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 8\%$.



Figure 7: The effects of announcing future (cold-turkey) disinflations under interest rate rule. Top panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 2\%$; middle panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 4\%$; bottom panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 8\%$.



Figure 8: Anticipated disinflation under interest rate rule. Top panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 2\%$; middle panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 4\%$; bottom panels: $\pi^*_{old} = 8\%$.



Figure 9: Cold-turkey disinflation under money supply rule. Consumption and employment paths are expressed in percentage deviations from the new steady state. Utility function are expressed in levels.

RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (*)

- N. 841 *Real term structure and inflation compensation in the euro area*, by Marcello Pericoli (January 2012).
- N. 842 *Expected inflation and inflation risk premium in the euro area and in the United States*, by Marcello Pericoli (January 2012).
- N. 843 Wealth effects in emerging economies, by Alessio Ciarlone (January 2012).
- N. 844 How sticky are local expenditures in Italy? Assessing the relevance of the "flypaper effect" through municipal data, by Elena Gennari and Giovanna Messina (January 2012).
- N. 845 Do wealth fluctuations generate time-varying risk aversion? Italian micro-evidence on household asset allocation, by Giuseppe Cappelletti (January 2012).
- N. 846 Welcome to the machine: firms' reaction to low-skilled immigration, by Antonio Accetturo, Matteo Bugamelli and Andrea Lamorgese (January 2012).
- N. 847 *Forecasting economic activity with higher frequency targeted predictors*, by Guido Bulligan, Massimiliano Marcellino and Fabrizio Venditti (January 2012).
- N. 848 Bank balance sheets and the transmission of financial shocks to borrowers: evidence from the 2007-2008 crisis, by Emilia Bonaccorsi di Patti and Enrico Sette (January 2012).
- N. 849 The role of financial investments in agricultural commodity derivatives markets, by Alessandro Borin and Virginia Di Nino (January 2012).
- N. 850 Mapping local productivity advantages in Italy: industrial districts, cities or both?, by Valter Di Giacinto, Matteo Gomellini, Giacinto Micucci and Marcello Pagnini (January 2012).
- N. 851 The impact of monetary policy shocks on commodity prices, by Alessio Anzuini, Marco J. Lombardi and Patrizio Pagano (February 2012).
- N. 852 Statistical models for measuring job satisfaction, by Romina Gambacorta and Maria Iannario (February 2012).
- N. 853 Forecasting world output: the rising importance of emerging economies, by Alessandro Borin, Riccardo Cristadoro, Roberto Golinelli and Giuseppe Parigi (February 2012).
- N. 854 Entry dynamics as a solution to the puzzling behaviour of real marginal costs in the Ghironi-Melitz model, by Alberto Felettigh (February 2012).
- N. 855 Trade openness and international fragmentation of production in the European Union: the new divide?, by Paolo Guerrieri and Filippo Vergara Caffarelli (February 2012).
- N. 856 Optimal dynamic public communication, by Marcello Miccoli (February 2012).
- N. 857 Modelling loans to non-financial corporations in the euro area, by Christoffer Kok Sørensen, David Marqués Ibáñez and Carlotta Rossi (February 2012).
- N. 858 Economic (in)stability under monetary targeting, by Luca Sessa (March 2012).
- N. 859 *Optimal fiscal policy when agents fear government default*, by Francesco Caprioli, Pietro Rizza and Pietro Tommasino (March 2012).
- N. 860 The effects of unemployment benefits in Italy: evidence from an institutional change, by Alfonso Rosolia and Paolo Sestito (March 2012).
- N. 861 *Monetary policy and the flow of funds in the euro area*, by Riccardo Bonci (March 2012).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

2009

- F. PANETTA, F. SCHIVARDI and M. SHUM, *Do mergers improve information? Evidence from the loan market*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 41, 4, pp. 673-709, **TD No. 521 (October 2004).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Do workers' remittances reduce the probability of current account reversals?*, World Development, v. 37, 12, pp. 1821-1838, **TD No. 573 (January 2006).**
- P. PAGANO and M. PISANI, *Risk-adjusted forecasts of oil prices*, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 9, 1, Article 24, **TD No. 585 (March 2006).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. SBRACIA, The CAPM and the risk appetite index: theoretical differences, empirical similarities, and implementation problems, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 123-150, TD No. 586 (March 2006).
- R. BRONZINI and P. PISELLI, *Determinants of long-run regional productivity with geographical spillovers: the role of R&D, human capital and public infrastructure,* Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 39, 2, pp.187-199, **TD No. 597 (September 2006).**
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and the business cycle*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 5, 4, pp. 393-409, **TD No. 601 (September 2006).**
- F. BALASSONE, D. FRANCO and S. ZOTTERI, *The reliability of EMU fiscal indicators: risks and safeguards*, in M. Larch and J. Nogueira Martins (eds.), Fiscal Policy Making in the European Union: an Assessment of Current Practice and Challenges, London, Routledge, **TD No. 633 (June 2007).**
- A. CIARLONE, P. PISELLI and G. TREBESCHI, *Emerging Markets' Spreads and Global Financial Conditions*, Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions & Money, v. 19, 2, pp. 222-239, **TD No. 637 (June 2007)**.
- S. MAGRI, *The financing of small innovative firms: the Italian case*, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, v. 18, 2, pp. 181-204, **TD No. 640 (September 2007).**
- V. DI GIACINTO and G. MICUCCI, The producer service sector in Italy: long-term growth and its local determinants, Spatial Economic Analysis, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 391-425, TD No. 643 (September 2007).
- F. LORENZO, L. MONTEFORTE and L. SESSA, *The general equilibrium effects of fiscal policy: estimates for the euro area*, Journal of Public Economics, v. 93, 3-4, pp. 559-585, **TD No. 652** (November 2007).
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA and D. MARQUÉS, *Securitisation and the bank lending channel*, European Economic Review, v. 53, 8, pp. 996-1009, **TD No. 653** (November 2007).
- R. GOLINELLI and S. MOMIGLIANO, *The Cyclical Reaction of Fiscal Policies in the Euro Area. A Critical Survey of Empirical Research*, Fiscal Studies, v. 30, 1, pp. 39-72, **TD No. 654 (January 2008).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, S. FABIANI and R. SABBATINI, What's behind "Inflation Perceptions"? A survey-based analysis of Italian consumers, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, v. 68, 1, pp. 25-52, TD No. 655 (January 2008).
- F. MACCHERONI, M. MARINACCI, A. RUSTICHINI and M. TABOGA, *Portfolio selection with monotone mean*variance preferences, Mathematical Finance, v. 19, 3, pp. 487-521, **TD No. 664 (April 2008).**
- M. AFFINITO and M. PIAZZA, What are borders made of? An analysis of barriers to European banking integration, in P. Alessandrini, M. Fratianni and A. Zazzaro (eds.): The Changing Geography of Banking and Finance, Dordrecht Heidelberg London New York, Springer, TD No. 666 (April 2008).
- A. BRANDOLINI, On applying synthetic indices of multidimensional well-being: health and income inequalities in France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom, in R. Gotoh and P. Dumouchel (eds.), Against Injustice. The New Economics of Amartya Sen, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, TD No. 668 (April 2008).
- G. FERRERO and A. NOBILI, *Futures contract rates as monetary policy forecasts*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 5, 2, pp. 109-145, **TD No. 681 (June 2008).**
- P. CASADIO, M. LO CONTE and A. NERI, Balancing work and family in Italy: the new mothers' employment decisions around childbearing, in T. Addabbo and G. Solinas (eds.), Non-Standard Employment and Qualità of Work, Physica-Verlag. A Sprinter Company, TD No. 684 (August 2008).
- L. ARCIERO, C. BIANCOTTI, L. D'AURIZIO and C. IMPENNA, *Exploring agent-based methods for the analysis* of payment systems: A crisis model for StarLogo TNG, Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation, v. 12, 1, **TD No. 686 (August 2008).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, Nonlinearities in the dynamics of the euro area demand for M1, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 13, 1, pp. 1-19, **TD No. 690 (September 2008).**
- L. FRANCESCO and A. SECCHI, *Technological change and the households' demand for currency*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 56, 2, pp. 222-230, **TD No. 697 (December 2008).**

- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, *Trend inflation, taylor principle, and indeterminacy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 41, 8, pp. 1557-1584, **TD No. 708** (May 2007).
- S. COLAROSSI and A. ZAGHINI, *Gradualism, transparency and the improved operational framework: a look at overnight volatility transmission*, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 151-170, **TD No. 710 (May 2009).**
- M. BUGAMELLI, F. SCHIVARDI and R. ZIZZA, *The euro and firm restructuring*, in A. Alesina e F. Giavazzi (eds): Europe and the Euro, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, **TD No. 716 (June 2009).**
- B. HALL, F. LOTTI and J. MAIRESSE, *Innovation and productivity in SMEs: empirical evidence for Italy*, Small Business Economics, v. 33, 1, pp. 13-33, **TD No. 718 (June 2009).**

2010

- A. PRATI and M. SBRACIA, Uncertainty and currency crises: evidence from survey data, Journal of Monetary Economics, v, 57, 6, pp. 668-681, **TD No. 446 (July 2002).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and S. SIVIERO, *The Economic Consequences of Euro Area Modelling Shortcuts*, Applied Economics, v. 42, 19-21, pp. 2399-2415, **TD No. 458 (December 2002).**
- S. MAGRI, *Debt maturity choice of nonpublic Italian firms*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v.42, 2-3, pp. 443-463, **TD No. 574 (January 2006).**
- G. DE BLASIO and G. NUZZO, *Historical traditions of civicness and local economic development*, Journal of Regional Science, v. 50, 4, pp. 833-857, **TD No. 591 (May 2006).**
- E. IOSSA and G. PALUMBO, *Over-optimism and lender liability in the consumer credit market*, Oxford Economic Papers, v. 62, 2, pp. 374-394, **TD No. 598 (September 2006).**
- S. NERI and A. NOBILI, *The transmission of US monetary policy to the euro area,* International Finance, v. 13, 1, pp. 55-78, **TD No. 606 (December 2006).**
- F. ALTISSIMO, R. CRISTADORO, M. FORNI, M. LIPPI and G. VERONESE, *New Eurocoin: Tracking Economic Growth in Real Time*, Review of Economics and Statistics, v. 92, 4, pp. 1024-1034, **TD No. 631 (June 2007).**
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and taxation*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 34, 11, pp. 2801-2810, **TD No. 649** (November 2007).
- M. IACOVIELLO and S. NERI, *Housing market spillovers: evidence from an estimated DSGE model,* American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, v. 2, 2, pp. 125-164, **TD No. 659 (January 2008).**
- F. BALASSONE, F. MAURA and S. ZOTTERI, *Cyclical asymmetry in fiscal variables in the EU*, Empirica, **TD** No. 671, v. 37, 4, pp. 381-402 (June 2008).
- F. D'AMURI, O. GIANMARCO I.P. and P. GIOVANNI, The labor market impact of immigration on the western german labor market in the 1990s, European Economic Review, v. 54, 4, pp. 550-570, TD No. 687 (August 2008).
- A. ACCETTURO, Agglomeration and growth: the effects of commuting costs, Papers in Regional Science, v. 89, 1, pp. 173-190, **TD No. 688 (September 2008).**
- S. NOBILI and G. PALAZZO, *Explaining and forecasting bond risk premiums*, Financial Analysts Journal, v. 66, 4, pp. 67-82, **TD No. 689 (September 2008).**
- A. B. ATKINSON and A. BRANDOLINI, *On analysing the world distribution of income*, World Bank Economic Review, v. 24, 1, pp. 1-37, **TD No. 701 (January 2009).**
- R. CAPPARIELLO and R. ZIZZA, Dropping the Books and Working Off the Books, Labour, v. 24, 2, pp. 139-162, **TD No. 702 (January 2009).**
- C. NICOLETTI and C. RONDINELLI, *The (mis)specification of discrete duration models with unobserved heterogeneity: a Monte Carlo study*, Journal of Econometrics, v. 159, 1, pp. 1-13, **TD No. 705** (March 2009).
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *Macroeconomic effects of greater competition in the service sector: the case of Italy*, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 14, 5, pp. 677-708, **TD No. 706** (March 2009).
- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Dynamic macroeconomic effects of public capital: evidence from regional Italian data, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 1, pp. 29-66, TD No. 733 (November 2009).
- F. COLUMBA, L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Mutual Guarantee institutions and small business finance*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 1, pp. 45-54, **TD No. 735** (November 2009).
- A. GERALI, S. NERI, L. SESSA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Credit and banking in a DSGE model of the Euro Area,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 42, 6, pp. 107-141, **TD No. 740 (January 2010).**
- M. AFFINITO and E. TAGLIAFERRI, Why do (or did?) banks securitize their loans? Evidence from Italy, Journal

of Financial Stability, v. 6, 4, pp. 189-202, TD No. 741 (January 2010).

- S. FEDERICO, Outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad and firm heterogeneity, Empirica, v. 37, 1, pp. 47-63, **TD No. 742** (February 2010).
- V. DI GIACINTO, *On vector autoregressive modeling in space and time*, Journal of Geographical Systems, v. 12, 2, pp. 125-154, **TD No. 746 (February 2010).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The macroeconomics of fiscal consolidations in euro area countries,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 34, 9, pp. 1791-1812, **TD No. 747** (March 2010).
- S. MOCETTI and C. PORELLO, *How does immigration affect native internal mobility? new evidence from Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 40, 6, pp. 427-439, **TD No. 748 (March 2010)**.
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap spread changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, Journal of Current Issues in Finance, Business and Economics, v. 3, 4, pp., **TD No. 749** (March 2010).
- P. CIPOLLONE, P. MONTANARO and P. SESTITO, Value-added measures in Italian high schools: problems and findings, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 2, pp. 81-114, TD No. 754 (March 2010).
- A. BRANDOLINI, S. MAGRI and T. M SMEEDING, *Asset-based measurement of poverty*, Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, v. 29, 2, pp. 267-284, **TD No. 755** (March 2010).
- G. CAPPELLETTI, A Note on rationalizability and restrictions on beliefs, The B.E. Journal of Theoretical Economics, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-11, **TD No. 757** (April 2010).
- S. DI ADDARIO and D. VURI, Entrepreneurship and market size. the case of young college graduates in Italy, Labour Economics, v. 17, 5, pp. 848-858, **TD No. 775 (September 2010).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, *Sectoral money demand and the great disinflation in the US*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 42, 8, pp. 1663-1678, **TD No. 785 (January 2011).**

2011

- S. DI ADDARIO, *Job search in thick markets*, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 69, 3, pp. 303-318, **TD No.** 605 (December 2006).
- F. SCHIVARDI and E. VIVIANO, *Entry barriers in retail trade*, Economic Journal, v. 121, 551, pp. 145-170, **TD** No. 616 (February 2007).
- G. FERRERO, A. NOBILI and P. PASSIGLIA, Assessing excess liquidity in the Euro Area: the role of sectoral distribution of money, Applied Economics, v. 43, 23, pp. 3213-3230, **TD No. 627** (April 2007).
- P. E. MISTRULLI, Assessing financial contagion in the interbank market: maximum entropy versus observed interbank lending patterns, Journal of Banking & Finance, v. 35, 5, pp. 1114-1127, TD No. 641 (September 2007).
- E. CIAPANNA, Directed matching with endogenous markov probability: clients or competitors?, The RAND Journal of Economics, v. 42, 1, pp. 92-120, **TD No. 665 (April 2008).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Output growth volatility and remittances*, Economica, v. 78, 311, pp. 480-500, **TD No. 673 (June 2008).**
- V. DI GIACINTO e M. PAGNINI, Local and global agglomeration patterns: two econometrics-based indicators, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 41, 3, pp. 266-280, **TD No. 674 (June 2008)**.
- G. BARONE and F. CINGANO, Service regulation and growth: evidence from OECD countries, Economic Journal, v. 121, 555, pp. 931-957, TD No. 675 (June 2008).
- R. GIORDANO and P. TOMMASINO, What determines debt intolerance? The role of political and monetary *institutions*, European Journal of Political Economy, v. 27, 3, pp. 471-484, **TD No. 700 (January 2009).**
- P. ANGELINI, A. NOBILI e C. PICILLO, *The interbank market after August 2007: What has changed, and why?*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 43, 5, pp. 923-958, **TD No. 731 (October 2009).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The Macroeconomics of Fiscal Consolidation in a Monetary Union: the Case of Italy*, in Luigi Paganetto (ed.), Recovery after the crisis. Perspectives and policies, VDM Verlag Dr. Muller, **TD No. 747 (March 2010).**
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, in Barbara L. Campos and Janet P. Wilkins (eds.), The Financial Crisis: Issues in Business, Finance and Global Economics, New York, Nova Science Publishers, Inc., **TD No. 749 (March 2010).**
- A. LEVY and A. ZAGHINI, *The pricing of government guaranteed bank bonds*, Banks and Bank Systems, v. 6, 3, pp. 16-24, **TD No. 753 (March 2010).**

- G. GRANDE and I. VISCO, A public guarantee of a minimum return to defined contribution pension scheme members, The Journal of Risk, v. 13, 3, pp. 3-43, **TD No. 762 (June 2010).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, G. ERAMO and A. NOBILI, *Disentangling demand and supply in credit developments: a survey-based analysis for Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 10, pp. 2719-2732, **TD No.** 764 (June 2010).
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, With a little help from abroad: the effect of low-skilled immigration on the female labour supply, Labour Economics, v. 18, 5, pp. 664-675, **TD No. 766 (July 2010).**
- A. FELETTIGH and S. FEDERICO, *Measuring the price elasticity of import demand in the destination markets of italian exports*, Economia e Politica Industriale, v. 38, 1, pp. 127-162, **TD No. 776 (October 2010).**
- S. MAGRI and R. PICO, *The rise of risk-based pricing of mortgage interest rates in Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 5, pp. 1277-1290, **TD No. 778 (October 2010).**
- M. TABOGA, Under/over-valuation of the stock market and cyclically adjusted earnings, International Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 135-164, **TD No. 780 (December 2010).**
- S. NERI, *Housing, consumption and monetary policy: how different are the U.S. and the Euro area?*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v.35, 11, pp. 3019-3041, **TD No. 807** (April 2011).
- V. CUCINIELLO, *The welfare effect of foreign monetary conservatism with non-atomistic wage setters*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 43, 8, pp. 1719-1734, **TD No. 810 (June 2011).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, welfare costs of inflation and the circulation of US currency abroad, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 11, 1, Art. 12, **TD No. 812 (June 2011).**
- I. FAIELLA, *La spesa energetica delle famiglie italiane*, Energia, v. 32, 4, pp. 40-46, **TD No. 822 (September 2011).**
- R. DE BONIS and A. SILVESTRINI, *The effects of financial and real wealth on consumption: new evidence from* OECD countries, Applied Financial Economics, v. 21, 5, pp. 409–425, **TD No. 837** (November 2011).

2012

A. ACCETTURO and G. DE BLASIO, Policies for local development: an evaluation of Italy's "Patti Territoriali", Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 42, 1-2, pp. 15-26, TD No. 789 (January 2006).

FORTHCOMING

- M. BUGAMELLI and A. ROSOLIA, *Produttività e concorrenza estera*, Rivista di politica economica, **TD No.** 578 (February 2006).
- F. CINGANO and A. ROSOLIA, *People I know: job search and social networks*, Journal of Labor Economics, **TD No. 600 (September 2006).**
- S. MOCETTI, *Educational choices and the selection process before and after compulsory school*, Education Economics, **TD No. 691 (September 2008).**
- P. SESTITO and E. VIVIANO, *Reservation wages: explaining some puzzling regional patterns*, Labour, **TD No. 696 (December 2008).**
- P. PINOTTI, M. BIANCHI and P. BUONANNO, *Do immigrants cause crime?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 698 (December 2008).**
- F. LIPPI and A. NOBILI, *Oil and the macroeconomy: a quantitative structural analysis*, Journal of European Economic Association, **TD No. 704** (March 2009).
- F. CINGANO and P. PINOTTI, *Politicians at work. The private returns and social costs of political connections*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 709 (May 2009).**
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA, and D. MARQUÉS-IBÁÑEZ, *Bank risk and monetary policy*, Journal of Financial Stability, **TD No. 712 (May 2009).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Tax morale and public spending inefficiency*, International Tax and Public Finance, **TD No. 732 (November 2009).**
- I. BUONO and G. LALANNE, *The effect of the Uruguay Round on the intensive and extensive margins of trade*, Journal of International Economics, **TD No. 835 (February 2011).**
- G. BARONE, R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Switching costs in local credit markets*, International Journal of Industrial Organization, **TD No. 760 (June 2010).**

- E. COCOZZA and P. PISELLI, Testing for east-west contagion in the European banking sector during the financial crisis, in R. Matoušek; D. Stavárek (eds.), Financial Integration in the European Union, Taylor & Francis, TD No. 790 (February 2011).
- S. NERI and T. ROPELE, *Imperfect information, real-time data and monetary policy in the Euro area,* The Economic Journal, **TD No. 802 (March 2011).**
- M. AFFINITO, Do interbank customer relationships exist? And how did they function in the crisis? Learning from Italy, Journal of Banking and Finance, **TD No. 826 (October 2011).**
- O. BLANCHARD and M. RIGGI, Why are the 2000s so different from the 1970s? A structural interpretation of changes in the macroeconomic effects of oil prices, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 835 (November 2011).**
- R. CRISTADORO and D. MARCONI, *Households Savings in China*, Chinese Economic and Business Studies, **TD No. 838 (November 2011).**